# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-TS-01059

# TERRY'S ENTERPRISES, INC. AND BARRY TERRY, JR. APPELLANTS

VS.

## SUSIE P. CAVIN, INDIVIDUALLY, ET AL.

**APPELLEES** 

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WASHINGTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

# BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS TERRY'S ENTERPRISES, INC. AND BARRY TERRY, JR.

Edwin W. Tindall, Heath S. Douglas, 1999 1998 LAKE TINDALL, LLP 127 S. Poplar Street P. O. Box 918 Greenville, Mississippi 38702-0918 Telephone (662) 378-2121 Facsimile (662) 378-2183

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS TERRY'S ENTERPRISES, INC. and BARRY TERRY, JR.

# ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal rises from a two (2) day trial, and a Jury Verdict, which concluded in the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi on March 4, 2008, the Honorable Ashley Hines, Circuit Judge, presiding. The claims presented were:

- 1. The personal injury claim of Susie P. Cavin, a guest passenger in a van driven by her husband Jessie Cavin, arising from a "head-on collision" with a gravel truck, owned and operated by Terry's Enterprises, a Mississippi Corporation, and being driven by Terry's Enterprises employee Barry Terry, Jr., with a resulting Jury Verdict to Mrs. Cavin, individually and personally, of \$1,000,000.00; and
- 2. The wrongful death claim, separately asserted by Susie P. Cavin, for the death of her husband, Jessie Cavin, as a result of the collision described, which she presented on behalf of all wrongful death beneficiaries, namely Susie P. Cavin (herself), and the surviving children of the decedent, Evan Ray Cavin, Theresa Cavin, Jeremy Cavin, Carolyn Callendar and Brandon Cavin, for which the Trial Jury awarded damages in the amount of \$500,000.00.

Terry's Enterprises and Barry Terry, Jr., Appellants, have appealed, with *supersedeas*, only the clearly separate verdict, for personal injuries, of \$1,000,000.00 awarded to Susie P. Cavin, individually. The wrongful death verdict of \$500,000.00, to all wrongful death beneficiaries, has been paid in full, but said beneficiaries, as Cross-Appellants, have perfected their own separate appeal, alleging that the wrongful death award was insufficient.

The head-on collision underlying this litigation occurred on October 18, 2005, just north of Hollandale, Washington County, Mississippi on U. S. Highway 61, a two-lane highway running generally North and South. There is no dispute that the Terry's Enterprises' truck, driven by Barry Terry, Jr., crossed the highway centerline, where it collided head-on with the Cavin's van. All evidence indicates that Jessie Ray Cavin died instantly, while Susie Cavin suffered personal injuries, most notably a comminuted fracture of her left wrist. It is the damage award for Mrs. Cavin's personal injury which is the subject of this Appeal, as Terry's Enterprises and Barry Terry, Jr. maintain that insufficient evidence was produced at trial to support a Jury Award for mental anguish and/or emotional distress, any future medical expenses, and/or future pain and suffering, all of which damages claims were, Defendants submit, improperly submitted to the Trial Jury. Absent sufficient proof to sustain these damage claims, the Jury Award of \$1,000,000.00, to Mrs. Cavin, whose medical expenses were roughly \$32,000.00, and who made a successful recovery, within six (6) months of the accident, is an award unsupported by the evidence, clearly excessive and *prima facie* indicative of bias, passion or prejudice by the Jury either against Terry's Enterprises and Barry Terry, Jr., or sympathy for Susie P. Cavin.

Terry's Enterprises and Barry Terry, Jr.'s Post Trial Motions, for *remittitur* or New Trial, in the alternative, alleging these same grounds for post trial relief, were denied.

# III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issues raised in this Appeal, by Defendants Terry (Terry Enterprises, Inc. and Barry Terry, Jr.), are limited to the Trial Jury's award, and underlying procedural and evidentiary errors related thereto, of One Million (\$1,000,000.00) dollars for the personal injury claim presented for Plaintiff (individually), Susie P. Cavin.

This Summary of Issues is two-fold, first as to instructional error, and, second, is likewise two-fold as to its evidentiary and procedural error, and is best described by the restatement of those damage issues as:

- 1. The personal injury award (excluding consideration of the issue of "mental anguish/mental distress"), is clearly excessive and unsupported by sufficient competent evidence, as Mrs. Cavin:
  - a. Suffered, personally, a broken wrist, with corresponding medical treatment totaling approximately \$32,000.00, with virtually "full and successful resolution" within six (6) months; and
  - b. Plaintiffs' Instruction P-8, granted over Defendants' objection, allowed the Jury to consider and award damages for "future medical expenses, future pain and suffering and future disability, i.e., loss of enjoyment of life", despite no competent evidence supporting such award; and
- 2. The Jury's consideration of damages for Susie P. Cavin's alleged "mental anguish/emotional distress", under Plaintiffs' Instruction P-8 was error, considering:
  - a. The total absence of any competent proof supporting any such award, or even its consideration by the Trial Jury; and

b. The combined insufficiency of "jury instruction", namely Plaintiffs' Instruction P-8 (granted over Defendants' objection as to the elements necessary to establish any "mental anguish/emotional distress" award), and the Court's refusal of Defendants' Instruction D-4, offered to correctly instruct the Jury about the requisite, legal elements necessary for any award for "mental anguish/emotional distress" damages.

The confluence of these instructional errors resulted in a procedurally unsustainable damage award (\$1,000,000.00) to Susie P. Cavin, individually, which is neither;

- 1. Supported by competent evidence, is against the great weight of the evidence, and is clearly excessive, so as to evidence bias, passion or prejudice against these Defendants, or impermissible sympathy for Plaintiff, Susie P. Cavin, all of which;
- 2. Warranted *remittitur*, under Defendants' post trial motion, which *remittitur* motion was erroneously denied.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### <u>ISSUE I:</u>

#### WHETHER

# THE TRIAL JURY WAS IMPROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON APPLICABLE LAW CONCERNING PLAINTIFFS' RECOVERABLE DAMAGES, GIVEN THE PROOF PRESENTED AT TRIAL – PLAINTIFFS' INSTRUCTION P-8 (GIVEN OVER DEFENDANTS' OBJECTION), AND INSTRUCTION D-4 (REFUSED).

Defendants assign as error the Trial Court's granting of Instruction P-8 and its refusal of

Defendants' Instruction D-4. The end result of granting P-8 and refusing D-4 was miss-instruction

of the Jury on "damage issues", to the prejudice of Defendants.

The standard of Appellate Review for Jury Instructions has been stated by this Court as

follows:

The instructions are to be read together as a whole, with no one instruction to be read alone or taken out of the context. A Defendant is entitled to have jury instructions given which present his theory of the case. However, the Trial Judge may also properly refuse the instructions if he finds them to incorrectly state the law or to repeat a theory fairly covered in another instruction or to be without proper foundation in the evidence of the case. *Blake v. Clein*, 903 So. 2d 710, 719 (Miss. 2005).

When any granted Jury Instruction is challenged, two questions must be asked: Does the

instruction contain a correct statement of the law, and is the instruction warranted by the evidence.

(Emphasis provided). Church v. Massey, 697 So. 2d 407, 410 (Miss. 1997)(citing Hill v. Dunaway, 487

So. 2d 807, 809 (Miss. 1986)). Stated more succinctly, to have an instruction granted, the proponent

must show that:

1. The instruction is supported by the evidence and that,

2. The instructions are correct statements of the law. (Emphasis provided).

Church, 697 So. 2d at 411, Copeland v. City of Jackson, 548 So. 2d 970, 973 (Miss. 1989).

Plaintiffs' Instruction P-8 was not, in material respects, supported by the evidence presented at trial, and its submission to the Jury rendered the resulting award of damages erroneous. This assignment of error has two (2) separate components, for purposes of this appeal. First, there was inadequate proof to support any claim for future medical expenses, future pain and suffering, or Plaintiff Susie Cavin's future "disability" i.e., her alleged loss of enjoyment of life activities. Secondly, Instruction P-8 authorized the Jury to consider damages for Susie Cavin's alleged mental anguish and/or emotional distress, for which no competent evidentiary predicate was produced.

Instruction P-8 read as follows:

The Court has instructed you to find for the Plaintiff Susie P. Cavin as to her claims for personal injuries, and you must determine an amount that is fair compensation for all of Susie P. Cavin's damages. These damages are called compensatory damages. The purpose of compensatory damages is to make Susie P. Cavin whole, that is, to compensate her for the damages that she has suffered, or will reasonably incur in the future.

You shall award <u>\$32,801.66</u> which the parties stipulate is the reasonable medical expense incurred by Susie P. Cavin as a proximate result of her injury.

In addition, you should consider each of the following elements of damage, to the extent you find them proved by a preponderance of the evidence:

- 1. Reasonable medical and other expenses proximately caused by the injury, and medical and other expenses which Plaintiff will reasonably incut in the future as a proximate result of the injury;
- 2. Past and <u>future pain and suffering</u> proximately caused by the injury, <u>including</u> <u>inability of Plaintiff to enjoy the pleasures of life</u> proximately caused by the injury;
- 3. <u>Past and future demonstrable harm from emotional distress and mental anguish</u> proximately caused by the injury and <u>which was reasonably foreseeable</u> to the Defendant.
- 4. <u>Past and future demonstrable harm from emotional distress and mental anguish</u> proximately <u>caused by Plaintiff's witnessing the death of her husband</u> Jessie Ray Cavin.

(Emphasis added to delineate, specifically, those portions of Instruction P-8 for which there is no evidentiary support).

# <u>Future Pain and Suffering/Future Medical Expenses/</u> Future Disability and/or Loss of Enjoyment of Life

The only evidence submitted at trial, by any physician arguably competent to address Susie Cavin's future medical need, pain and suffering or disability i.e., loss of enjoyment of life, was that of Dr. Michael Robichaux, Jr., whose testimony merely established that Mrs. Cavin suffered a broken wrist which required two (2) surgical procedures for its repair, with her incurred medical expenses totaling roughly \$33,000.00. (See Trial Exhibit 49, Robichaux deposition transcript, Page 8, lines 2 through 25; Page 9, lines 1 through 11; Page 10, lines 6 through 8, Page 12, lines 3 through 25; and Page 13, lines 1 through 7; and Page 18, beginning at line 25 through Page 21, Line 3). Robichaux's proof limited Mrs. Cavin's "period of disability" to March 8, 2006, being roughly six months. (Trial Exhibit 49, Robichaux deposition transcript, Page 16, lines 2 through 20). The only medical proof presented to the contrary suggested the mere possibility that, in the future, Mrs. Cavin might experience "mild arthritic problems", for which the occasional use of Tylenol, Advil, or some other non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medication should be sufficient for pain management. (Trial Exhibit 49, Robichaux deposition transcript at Page 16, line 21 through Page 23, line 11).

The video deposition of Dr. Robichaux fails to establish or support any viable claim for future pain and suffering or future medical expenses. Yet Plaintiffs' Jury Instruction P-8, discussed *supra*, granted over Defendants' objection, put such elements before the Jury, for its consideration. Dr. Robichaux awarded no permanent impairment rating, envisioned no future surgery, prescribed no future medication, and predicted only that Mrs. Cavin may need to take some over the counter pain/inflammation medicine in the future. (Trial Exhibit 49, Robichaux deposition transcript at Page 21, line 14 through Page 23, line 11). Further, Dr. Robichaux had not treated Mrs. Cavin, nor prescribed any medication for her, since March of 2006, nearly two years prior to the time of this

<sup>3</sup> 

trial. (Trial Exhibit 49, Robichaux deposition transcript at Page 21, line 14 through Page 23, line 11). Dr. Robichaux made no prediction as to any future medical procedures, and accordingly made no predictions as to any future costs the Plaintiff may incur.

Any award for future pain and suffering or future medicals is unsupported by the evidence, and should not have been included in Jury Instruction P-8. Neither was the Jury's consideration of a possible award for future "disability" supported by any substantial, credible medical evidence. The Court's recent decision in *City of Jackson v. Spann*, 2009 WL 141848 (Miss. 2009), establishes the criteria for submission of such damage claims, and requires the medical evidence presented to demonstrate some level of certainty, and not be conjecture. *Id* at 7 (Citing *Catchings v. State*, 684 So. 2d 591, 598 (Miss. 1996)).

The Spann criteria merits comment, as applies to this Appeal. In Spann, a testifying medical doctor, in essence, "guessed" as to the cost of possible future surgery (\$20,000.00). This Court found such "evidence" insufficient to support an award for future medical costs. Spann at 7. Likewise, this Court held that an award of \$150,000.00 for disability/future medical costs was improper, considering that the testifying doctors offered only "equivocal testimony regarding future surgery". Spann at 7. In the case sub judice, the medical testimony is even more sparse than in Spann, while the award was much larger. The submission of Paragraph 1 of Instruction P-8 (future medical costs) was not supported by the evidence.

As to future pain and suffering and any alleged future "loss of enjoyment of life" (Paragraph 2 of Instruction P-8), a similar case by this Court has overturned an award of \$500,000.00 for future pain and suffering, for its lack of evidentiary support. (See *Entergy Miss., Inc. v. Bolden,* 854 So. 2d 1051 (Miss. 2003)). In *Bolden,* the Plaintiff sustained injuries to her left side, including her knee, shoulder and ankle. She had surgery to her left knee and ankle. *Id* at 1054. *Bolden* claimed lost

wages of \$9,600.00 and medical expenses of \$31,686.06 (almost exactly the same as the case *sub judice*). She received an impairment rating of 15% for her left knee, and 10% to her for her left ankle. In that case, Mrs. Bolden could not return to her regular employment, unlike Mrs. Cavin, who did return to her job at Wal-Mart. (Record Transcript, Volume I of II, Page 94, excerpts of testimony by Evan Ray Cavin, and Record Transcript, Volume II of II, Page 110, excerpt of trial testimony of Theresa Cavin). This Court, based on this evidence, found an award of \$500,000.00 improper and unsupported by the evidence. The Court opined:

We conclude the scant testimony offered in support of damages for pain and suffering does not justify such a large award of damages for pain and suffering. . . Id at 1058.

Plaintiff, Susie Cavin, in this case provided evidence far below the thresholds set either by *Spann* and/or *Bolden* for recovery of future medical expense and future pain and suffering. Again, there was no competent medical evidence establishing any identifiable impairment rating, no future surgery was predicted, no future medications were identified, beyond "over the counter medicines", nor was any estimate given for future costs. The evidence presented at trial left the Trial Jury with nothing except speculation and conjecture, legally insufficient, to sustain any award for any "future damages". For this reason alone, reversal and remand is required, as Susie Cavin's future damages, which the Jury was instructed it "... should consider. ..", were unsupported by any evidence. This instruction was error and was prejudicial to Defendants.

#### В.

#### Emotional Distress/Mental Anguish

Plaintiffs' Jury Instruction P-8 also authorized the Jury to consider damages for mental anguish/mental distress, which claim is not supported by competent evidence within this record. The only emotional distress issue presented to the Jury was for garden variety negligent infliction.

Further, the Court refused Defendants' Instruction D-4, which would have correctly instructed the Jury of the elements necessary to sustain damages for mental anguish and/or emotional distress.

Defendants' Instruction D-4, which the Trial Court denied, was as follows:

You may only award damages to the Plaintiffs for emotional distress if the Plaintiff proves, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Plaintiff suffered a physical injury, a physical illness or assault upon her mind, nervous system or personality of the Plaintiff which is medically cognizant and which requires treatment by a medical professional, and the injury/affect was a reasonably foreseeable result of the Defendants' negligence, unless, in the absence of a physical injury/affect which is medically cognizant, the Plaintiffs may only recover for emotional distress if you find, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the Defendants' conduct was willful, wanton, malicious, outrageous or intentional.

Instruction D-4 was an accurate description of Mississippi's Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress case law as of March, 2008 (the trial date). Plaintiffs' instruction (P-8) was not supported by sufficient evidence, as it did not include any reference to any cognizable manifestation of any emotional injury, and thereby, in conjunction with the Court's denial of D-4, deprived the Jury of adequate instruction on the elements necessary to support any mental anguish/emotional distress award.

Concerning "medical manifestation", and corresponding treatment for emotional distress, Mrs. Cavin testified that a physician, whose records are not in evidence, gave her a prescription for Lexapro, an anti-depression medication, about five (5) months after the subject accident, with which she experimented for a period of something less than one month. (See Transcript at Pages 81, 83, & 84). There was no testimony, medical or otherwise, linking the Lexapro prescription to Mrs. Cavin's alleged separate and personal "emotional distress". She testified that she did not finish the one month prescription, nor did she ever follow-up with that, or any other physician, for any treatment for mental or emotional distress. (See Transcript at P. 84). No proof, beyond Mrs. Cavin's vague testimony, addresses the requirement for some medically cognizable manifestation of

6

mental/emotional distress, which still was required to have been proximately related (and there is no such proof) to Mrs. Cavin's alleged emotional distress claim.

Additionally, three (3) of five (5) of Mrs. Cavin's adult children testified, very briefly, that Mrs. Cavin had trouble sleeping at times, that she was sad, and cried "a lot". The entirety of the proof elicited about Mrs. Cavin's inability to sleep, her sadness and crying comprises only parts of four (4) pages of the Trial Transcript, and is summarized as follows:

- 1. Evan Ray Cavin, Record Transcript Page 94, lines 9 through 21;
- 2. Theresa Cavin, Transcript Page 110, lines 13 through 16;
- 3. Brandon Cavin, Transcript Page 122, lines 24 through 29; and Page 123, lines 1 through 19.

The concept of recovery for alleged negligent infliction of emotional distress has seen considerable development and discussion in Mississippi *jurisprudence* over the past ten to twenty years. This Court has stated that "mental anguish is a nebulous concept. . . and requires substantial proof for recovery". *Summers ex rel v. St. Andrews Episcopal School, Inc.*, 759 So. 2d 1203, 1211 (Miss. 2000)(citing *Morrison v. Means*, 680 So. 2d 803 (Miss. 1996)).

This Court has historically dealt with negligent infliction of emotional distress cases (as was the case *sub judice*) in one of two ways. A "restrictive view" has been applied in the majority of decisions, under which the Plaintiff must show a demonstrative, medically cognizable injury (or physical manifestation) <u>due to the alleged distress</u>. A more "permissive view" does not, seemingly, require "physical manifestation", but only that some significant/demonstrable emotional distress occurred which was reasonably foreseeable to the Defendant. (See *American Banker's Ins. Co. of Florida v. Wells*, 889 So. 2d 1196 (Miss. 2001) for the "restrictive view" and *Adams v. U. S. Homecrafters, Inc.*, 744 So. 2d 736 (Miss. 1999) for the "permissive view"). Even under the "permissive" interpretation, a Plaintiff must present evidence greater than simple worry, lack of sleep, crying or generally being upset. Such scant evidence, which is very similar to the evidence presented at the trial of the case *sub judice*, does not give rise to the right to emotional distress damages. *Adams*, 744 So. 2d at 743-44 (citing *Strickland v. Rossini*, 589 So. 2d 1265 (Miss. 1991)). In *Adams*, the Court noted that only four sentences in the transcript were related to any claimed emotional distress. *Id* at 744. In Mrs. Cavin's case, the testimony offered was very similar, totaling only parts of seventeen (17) sentences in the transcript.

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