IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2008-TS-01059

TERRY'S ENTERPRISES, INC. AND BARRY TERRY, JR.

APPELLANTS/ CROSS-APPELLEES

VS.

ţ

τ

ι.

ŧ.

È,

1

7 7

SUSIE P. CAVIN, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF THE WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF JESSIE RAY CAVIN, DECEASED

APPELLEE/ CROSS-APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WASHINGTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

Counsel of Record:

W. Bobby Gill, III, Kirk G. Ladner, James M. Priest, Jr., Gill, Ladner & Priest, PLLC 403 South State Street Jackson, Mississippi 39201 (601) 352-5700 t (601) 352-5353 f

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2008-TS-01059

TERRY'S ENTERPRISES, INC. AND BARRY TERRY, JR.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court was correct in denying Defendants' motion for remittitur or new trial as to Susie Cavin's personal injury claim. Mrs. Cavin produced undisputed evidence that she suffered a sever fracture to her wrist which had already resulted in over \$32,000 in medical expenses. Mrs. Cavin also presented undisputed evidence that orthopedic hardware remains in her arm, and she had developed arthritis in her wrist as a result of the fracture and surgical fixation. Further, Mrs. Cavin presented undisputed testimony that she suffered severe emotional distress following the collision, both as a result of her own physical injuries and as a result of witnessing the death of her husband of 36 years. The trial court properly instructed the jury that it could award damages to Mrs. Cavin for her future medical expenses, future pain and suffering, and emotional distress. The jury's verdict was not excessive and gave no indication of bias or prejudice.

On the other hand, the trial court improperly instructed the jury as to the form of its verdict on the claims of Jessie Cavin's wrongful death beneficiaries. As dictated by this Court in <u>River Region Medical Corp. v. Patterson</u>, 975 So. 2d 205 (Miss. 2007), the trial court should have instructed the jury to consider the economic loss resulting from Mr. Cavin's death, and then to consider <u>each individual wrongful death beneficiary's</u> claim for loss of society and companionship. Instead, the trial court provided a form of the verdict instruction which required the jury to arrive at a single figure for both economic and noneconomic damages arising from Mr. Cavin's death. The improper instruction minimized the fact that each wrongful death beneficiary had suffered a loss of society and companionship and resulted in an inadequate verdict. Therefore, the trial court should have granted Plaintiff's motion for additur or new trial on the wrongful death case.

i

6

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court properly instructed the jury regarding Susie Cavin's recovery of damages for future medical expenses and future pain and suffering.
 - A. The trial court's instruction regarding Susie Cavin's future medical expenses and future pain and suffering was supported by the evidence.

The Defendants contend that the trial court erred in granting Jury Instruction P-8 which permitted the jury to consider Susie Cavin's future medical expenses and future pain and suffering in reaching its verdict.⁴ On appellate review of a jury instruction, this Court asks "Does the instruction contain a correct statement of law and is the instruction warranted by the evidence?" <u>Beverly Enterprises, Inc. v. Reed</u>, 961 So. 2d 40, 43 (Miss. 2007) (citing <u>Hill v.</u> <u>Dunaway</u>, 487 So.2d 807, 809 (Miss.1986)). The Defendants have not challenged Instruction P-8 on the basis it contained an incorrect statement of the law. Therefore, if Instruction P-8 was supported by "credible evidence in the record", then the trial court was proper in granting it. <u>Hill</u>, 487 So. 2d at 809.

At trial, Mrs. Cavin presented the following evidence as to the physical damages she suffered as a result of the collision:

٠

5 7

٤

1

As a result of the collision, she suffered a severely comminuted fracture of the left distal radius (i.e., the bone in her wrist was broken into multiple pieces).

⁴ Somewhat puzzlingly, the Defendants argue that the trial court should not have instructed the jury to consider future "disability". Instruction P-8 does not mention disability. <u>See</u> R. at 187-88. The Defendants appear to equate disability with loss of enjoyment of life. <u>See</u> Appellant Br. at 2. However, Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-69 (2002) specifically allows recovery of damages for loss of enjoyment of life as a component of pain and suffering damages. To the extent the submission of the question of future pain and suffering to the jury was proper, so was the submission of the issue of future loss of enjoyment of life.

(Robichaux dep. at 8).

- This fracture required fixation by with multiple screws and a pin by an orthopedic surgeon. <u>Id.</u> at 9.
- Mrs. Cavin had to undergo a second operation for removal of the pin. The pin had become painful before it was removed. Id. at 10.
- Mrs. Cavin had to undergo physical and occupational therapy. <u>Id.</u> at 14.
- Mrs. Cavin suffers an unspecified degree of impairment in her left arm. <u>Id.</u> at 23.
- Mrs. Cavin did not work for several months during her recovery.
- Dr. Robichaux testified that Mrs. Cavin already exhibits mild arthritic changes in her left wrist. Dr. Robichaux expects pain, stiffness, and weakness from arthritis to become progressively worse over time. Dr. Robichaux expects that the pain from arthritis will require treatment with Advil, Aleve, or injections. <u>Id.</u> at 16-18.
 Mrs. Cavin currently has a plate and screws in her wrist.
- Mrs. Cavin has already incurred \$32,801.66 in medical expenses. <u>Id.</u> at 187-88. This evidence clearly demonstrates that Mrs. Cavin will suffer future pain and debilitation and will probably require future medical treatment.

In <u>APAC Mississippi, Inc. v. Johnson</u>, _____ So. 2d. ___, No. 2007-CA-01009-COA, 2009 WL 596000, (Miss. Ct. App. Mar. 10, 2009), at *8, the Court of Appeals found that the trial court properly instructed the jury to consider the plaintiff's future medical expenses and pain and suffering despite the fact that the plaintiff had not received medical treatment for over two years before trial. The evidence presented in that case was that the plaintiff was extracted from her vehicle by the "jaws of life", experienced fractured vertebrae but did not require surgery, and continued to experience neck pain for which she took over-the-counter and prescription medications. <u>APAC v. Johnson</u>, 2009 WL 596000, at *12. The evidence of Mrs. Cavin's future medical bills and future pain and suffering in this case is even stronger – she has orthopedic hardware in her arm, Dr. Robichaux testified that arthritic changes are present, and Dr. Robichaux testified that as a result of the arthritic changes, Mrs. Cavin <u>will</u> experience soreness and weakness in her wrist requiring at least over-the-counter medication and maybe an injection. (Robichaux Dep. at 18). Thus, based on Dr. Robichaux's testimony alone, the trial court had before it an adequate evidentiary basis to instruct the jury to consider future medical expenses and pain and suffering.

B. The Defendants have waived any assignment of error regarding the jury instruction as it pertained to future medical expenses.

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 51 requires that a party who objects to a jury instruction make a specific objection on the record. Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 3.07 requires a party objecting to an instruction to "dictate into the record their specific objections to the requested instructions stating the grounds for each objection." Although Defendants objected to Instruction P-8 regarding future pain and suffering, the Defendants stated absolutely no objection to the consideration of future medical expenses. (Tr. at 128-131). "Failure to object to an instruction at trial bars that issue on appeal." <u>Missala Marine Services,</u> <u>Inc. v. Odom</u>, 861 So. 2d 290, 296 (Miss. 2003) (citing Jones v. State, 776 So.2d 643, 653 (Miss.2000)). The Court, therefore, should not address trial court's granting of Instruction P-8 to the extent the instruction called for the consideration of future medical expenses.

II. The trial court properly instructed the jury regarding Susie Cavin's recovery of damages for emotional distress.

The Defendants argue that the trial should not have permitted the jury to consider Mrs.

Cavin's mental anguish and emotional distress because she had no "physical manifestation" of such emotional injuries. Defendants argument is flawed on multiple levels. First, the Defendants seem to ignore the obvious – that Mrs. Cavin was seriously physically injured in the horrendous collision which demolished the van in which she was a passenger. The law has long recognized that emotional distress damages are recoverable when such emotional distress arises as a result of physical injury. See, e.g. Miss. Valley Gas v. Estate of Walker, 725 So. 2d 139, 150-51 (Miss. 1998) (finding trial court properly instructed jury to consider mental pain and anguish of plaintiffs who suffered physical injury); Occhipinti v. Rheem Mfg. Co., 252 Miss. 172, 182, 172 So. 2d 186, 190 (1965) ("jury is allowed to consider the case with all its facts, and to take into account not only the physical pain, but also mental suffering, in determining damages").

1

The law also does not require a "physical manifestation" in a pure emotional injury case. See Adams v. U.S. Homecrafters, Inc., 744 So. 2d 736, 743 (Miss.1999) ("proof [of emotional distress] may solely consist of evidence of a mental injury without physical manifestation"). A case relied on by Defendants states, "In such a case of ordinary negligence a plaintiff may not recover damages for emotional distress without showing a physical manifestation of injury or demonstrable harm." Paz v. Brush Engineered Materials, Inc., 949 So.2d 1, 4 (Miss. 2007) (emphasis added). The case stated that in an "ordinary negligence" case proof of emotional injury requires proof that "the injury is medically cognizable and treatable ." Paz, 949 So. 2d at 4. As discussed in detail below, this is not an ordinary negligence case with regard to Mrs. Cavin's emotional injury – it is a case for "bystander liability". However, assuming that the standard for proving emotional injury in an ordinary negligence case applies, Mrs. Cavin presented sufficient evidence at trial to meet that standard. She testified that her family doctor (Dr. Whaley) prescribed Lexapro to her for depression and anxiety. That prescription is documented in her pharmacy records which are in evidence. Mrs. Cavin's children also testified at length regarding the emotional toll the accident has taken on her. The children testified that their mother can hardly sleep in her own bed, that she does not otherwise sleep well, and that she seems to become easily upset. Mrs. Cavin's son Ray Cavin testified that during her initial hospitalization following the accident, his mother exhibited an obsession with whether Jessie Ray Cavin's foot was amputated in the collision.

Even though Mrs. Cavin proved a demonstrable and medically cognizable emotional injury, such proof was not even necessary for submission of the emotional distress issue to the jury. In <u>Entex, Inc. v. McGuire</u>, 414 So. 2d 431, 444 (1982), the Mississippi Supreme Court recognized that a plaintiff may recover damages as a result of witnessing the death or injury of a loved one:

- When the "plaintiff was located near the scene of the accident as contrasted with one who was a distance away from it";
- (2) When the shock resulted from "a direct emotional impact upon plaintiff from the sensory and contemporaneous observance of the accident, as contrasted with learning of the accident from others after its occurrence"; and

(3) When "plaintiff and the victim were closely related. . ."

<u>Entex</u> does not require a plaintiff under such circumstances to prove a "physical manifestation" of the emotional injury or that the emotional injury is "medically cognizable".

In a case analogous to <u>Entex</u> (and even more analogous to this case), the New Mexico Supreme Court held that it is sufficient for a plaintiff to establish a case for negligent infliction of emotional distress to prove: (1) the plaintiff and the victim enjoyed a marital or intimate family relationship, (2) the plaintiff suffered severe shock from the contemporaneous sensory perception of the accident, and (3) the accident caused physical injury or death to the victim. Folz v. State, 797 P.2d 246, 260 (N.M..1990). That court further stated that it is not "mandatory for the plaintiff to produce expert medical testimony in order to establish the claim for emotional injury." Folz, 797 P.2d at 260. More to the point with regard to this case, the New Mexico court stated, "When the plaintiff suffers physical injury, apart from the emotional injury, the severe shock from contemporaneous sensory perception involving a family member need not be distinguished from distress attributable to the plaintiff's physical injury." *Id.*

5 5

ε.

1

i.

Mrs. Cavin submitted more than ample evidence to support her claim for emotional distress under Entex. Obviously, Mrs. Cavin and Jessie Ray Cavin, to whom she had been married for 36 years, were closely related. Mrs. Cavin was not only near the scene of the accident – she was actually in it. From the testimony at trial it was obvious that Mrs. Cavin suffered a direct emotional impact resulting in severe shock. Just by way of example, Mrs. Cavin testified that she was trapped in the van in which her husband had just died, and eyewitness Charles Dennis, testified that she was screaming "Wake up!" at her husband while she was trapped in the van. (Tr. at 49). Mrs. Cavin's son Ray Cavin further testified to his mother's distraught — and sometimes hysterical — behavior following the collision. (Tr. at 58-90).

III. The trial court did not err in denying Defendants' motion for remittitur or new trial because the jury verdict in favor of Susie Cavin on her individual personal injury claims was not excessive and was not based on improper instructions.

The Court may grant a remittitur only if it finds that the damages are excessive "for the reason that the jury . . . was influenced by bias prejudice, or passion, or that the damages

12

awarded were contrary to the overwhelming weight of credible evidence." Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-55 (2002). Whether a verdict is excessive "can be determined only by the circumstances of the particular case." Biloxi Elec. Co. v. Thorn, 264 So. 2d 404, 405 (Miss. 1972). Damage "[a]wards fixed by jury determination are not merely advisory and will not under the general rule be set aside unless so unreasonable in amount as to strike mankind at first blush as being beyond all measure, unreasonable and outrageous." Mississippi State Hwy. Comm. v. Antioch Baptist Church, Inc., 392 So. 2d 512, 514 (Miss. 1981). In order to set aside or modify a verdict, the Court must find the damages "so excessive as to strike mankind, at first blush, as being beyond all measure, unreasonable, and outrageous, and such as manifestly show the Jury to have been actuated by passion, partiality, prejudice, or corruption. In short, the damages must be flagrantly outrageous and extravagant, where they have no standard by which to ascertain the excess. Wells Fargo Armored Service Corp. v. Turner, 543 So. 2d 154, 159 (Miss. 1989) (citing Detroit Marine Engineering v. Robert McRee, 510 So. 2d 462 (Miss. 1987)). This Court will reverse a trial court's ruling on the issue of remittitur only if [the trial judge] has abused or exceeded his discretion." Royal Oil Co., Inc. v. Wells, 500 So. 2d 439, 449 (Miss. 1986).

The jury's verdict as to Mrs. Cavin's personal injury claim was well-supported by the evidence. The extent of Mrs. Cavin's past medical expenses and past physical pain, suffering, and debilitation was uncontested at trial. Further, Defendants offered no evidence to dispute that Mrs. Cavin will suffer future pain and debilitation as a result of her physical injuries. The jury was properly instructed as to Mrs. Cavin's emotional distress damages. Mrs. Cavin presented evidence of medical treatment of her emotional injury, and the testimony presented established the depth of her emotional injury beyond question. The verdict on the personal injury case was certainly not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

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